4 Rhizaria: Phytomyxea

SIMON BULMAN¹, JAMES P. BRASELTON²

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	99
II.	Life Cycle	100
	A. Sporogenic (Secondary) Plasmodia	103
	B. Sporangial (Primary) Plasmodia	104
	C. Relationship of Life Cycle Phases	104
	D. Karyogamy	104
III.	Classification	104
	A. Phylogeny	104
	B. Genera and Species	105
	C. Molecular Applications	106
IV.	Occurrence, Distribution, Maintenance, and	
	Culture	106
v.	Conclusions and Future Prospects	108
	References	108

I. Introduction

Phytomyxea comprises a group that historically was considered as fungi (Sparrow 1960; Waterhouse 1972) and for that reason is included here. Recent classifications place Phytomyxea in the protistan supergroup **Rhizaria** (Adl et al. 2005; Bass et al. 2009; Cavalier-Smith and Chao 2003), and molecular studies have led to the recognition of two orders within Phytomyxea (Bass et al. 2009; Cavalier-Smith and Chao 2003): **Plasmodiophorida** (the plasmodiophorids *sensu stricto*) and **Phagomyxida** (phagomyxids). Major reviews of the Phytomyxea, in addition to John Karling's monograph *The Plasmodiophorales* (1968), include Maire and Tison (1909), Cook (1933), Dylewski (1989), Dick (2001), and Neuhauser et al. (2010).

The most commonly recognized Phytomyxea are the plant pathogens Plasmodiophora brassicae Woronin, the causal agent of clubroot of cabbage and other brassicaceous crops worldwide (Cook and Schwartz 1930; Dixon 2009), and Spongospora subterranea (Wallroth) Lagerheim, the causal organism of powdery scab of potato (Kole 1954; Merz 2008; Merz and Falloon 2009). Also of economic significance are Spongospora nasturtii M. W. Dick, the causal agent of crook root in watercress (Tomlinson 1958), and Polymyxa betae Keskin, the vector for beet necrotic vellow vein virus (BNYVV), which causes rhizomania of sugar beet (McGrann et al. 2009). Spongospora nasturtii, S. subterranea, and Polymyxa graminis Ledingham also serve as vectors for plant-pathogenic viruses (Cooper and Asher 1988; Kanyuka et al. 2003; Rochon et al. 2004).

Karling (1981) proposed unified terminology to alleviate problems with nomenclature for stages in the life cycles of plasmodiophorids that had accumulated over the years because of contributions from researchers in a variety of disciplines. His major concern was the use of the term *cyst* for the single-celled resting structure that was not the result of a zoospore encysting on a substrate. By replacing the term cyst with resting spore, for consistency, the recommended term for the collection of resting spores would be sporosorus instead of cystosorus. Other terms recommended by Karling included *sporogenic*, when referring to developmental stages that lead to resting spores, and *sporangial*, when referring to developmental stages that lead to thinwalled sporangia (zoosporangia) that contain zoospores. Sporogenic and sporangial phases of plasmodiophorid life cycles have also been referred to as secondary and primary, respectively.

> Systematics and Evolution, 2nd Edition The Mycota VII Part A D.J. McLaughlin and J.W. Spatafora (Eds.) © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2014

¹The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited, Gerald Street, Lincoln, 7608 Canterbury New Zealand; e-mail: simon.bulman@plantandfood.co.nz

²Department of Environmental & Plant Biology, Ohio University, Athens, OH 45701, USA; e-mail: braselto@ohio.edu

A unique type of nuclear division in Phytomyxea, cruciform division, was observed in P. brassicae as early as 1899 but was referred to as promitosis or protomitosis because it resembled some of the nuclear divisions in several protozoa (Cook 1933; Karling 1968). The currently used descriptive adjective cruciform was introduced by Blomfield and Schwartz (1910) because at metaphase the persistent nucleolus is elongated parallel to the spindle and perpendicular to the plate of chromatin, thus forming a crosslike (cruciform) configuration when viewed from the side (Figs. 4.1 and 4.2). Additional descriptive terms used for this type of nuclear division include Saturn stage as a synonym for cruciform and double anchor or dumbbell stage for mid to late anaphase (Blomfield and Schwartz 1910; Cook 1933) (Fig. 4.3). Features of cruciform divisions based on ultrastructural observations (Keskin 1971; Braselton et al. 1975; Dylewski et al. 1978; Garber and Aist 1979b; Dylewski and Miller 1983) (Figs. 4.1–4.3) include a persistent membrane of either nuclear envelope or endoplasmic reticulum origin, intranuclear spindle, centrioles at both poles, and a nucleolus that remains throughout nuclear division.

In addition to cruciform division, systematic features of plasmodiophorids include multinucleate protoplasts without walls (plasmodia) as growth forms (Fig. 4.1), zoospores with two anterior whiplash (lacking mastigonemes) flagella (undulipodia) of unequal lengths (Ledingham 1934; Kole and Gielink 1961), centrioles paired in an end-to-end fashion (Braselton and Miller 1973) (Fig. 4.4), environmentally resistant resting spores (Figs. 4.6 and 4.7), and intracellular, biotrophic growth forms (Dylewski 1989). Phagomyxida share these features with Plasmodiophorida, with the exception of environmentally resistant resting spores: resting spores have not been documented for Maullinia I. Maier, E. R. Parodi, R. Westermeier et D. G. Müller, or Phagomyxa Karling.

II. Life Cycle

Difficulties with describing phytomyxid life cycles arise in part because members of this

group are obligate, intracellular biotrophs; no member has been shown conclusively to complete a life cycle in culture free of host cells. Dylewski's (1989) diagrammatic representation of the life cycle for members of the plasmodiophorids was in turn based on Karling's (1968) summary and serves as the basis for the life cycle presented here (Fig. 4.8). It should be emphasized that this generalized life cycle is the result of a compilation of observations made by various investigators and that variations in this scheme either have not been documented fully or are not currently understood.

Two major phases are recognized in the plasmodiophorid life cycle. The **sporogenic** (secondary) phase, which has not been observed in phagomyxids, culminates in the production of resting spores. The **sporangial** (primary) phase produces secondary zoospores within relatively thin-walled (zoo)sporangia.

In plasmodiophorids the life cycle arbitrarily may be considered to begin with a resting spore, a cell that contains a single nucleus and has an environmentally resistant cell wall. Resting spores may remain viable for several years, rendering infected soils unsuitable for susceptible hosts (Macfarlane 1952). The cell walls of P. brassicae (Yukawa and Tanaka 1979) and S. subterranea (Lahert and Kavanagh 1985) consist of three layers; P. brassicae cell walls contain chitin, lipids, and protein (Buczacki and Moxham 1983; Moxham and Buczacki 1983). The thickness of cell walls varies among members of the group (Figs. 4.6 and 4.7), but there has been no systematic treatment of the variations. Resting spores may occur singly, as in the genus Plasmodiophora Woronin, or in aggregations, sporosori, which remain the major morphological criterion for designating genera within Plasmodiophorida.

Upon germination, a resting spore releases a single, heterokont, biflagellated, uninucleate, free-swimming, primary zoospore (Kole and Gielink 1962; Macfarlane 1970; Merz 1997). When a zoospore encounters the wall of a potential host cell, the zoospore encysts and retracts its flagella (Aist and Williams 1971; Claxton et al. 1996; Merz 1997). A dense, projectile-like structure (Stachel) is within a tubular cavity (Rohr), and together these pass with the majority of the zoospore's cytoplasm into



Figs. 4.1-4.5 TEMs of dividing nuclei of Phytomyxea. Figs. 4.1-4.4 Sporangial plasmodia of *Spongospora nasturtii* on watercress. Fig. 4.1 Survey TEM of young plasmodium with synchronous cruciform divisions. Nucleoli are elongated perpendicularly to the chromatin and centrioles are at the poles (*arrow*). Fig. 4.2 TEM of metaphase ("Saturn stage") of cruciform nuclear division. Fig. 4.3 TEM of anaphase of cruciform nuclear division ("double anchor stage"). Fig. 4.4 TEM of transitional nucleus, with one pair of centrioles in the

end-to-end orientation characteristic for the group shown in longitudinal view (*larger arrow*) and the other centriolar pair in transverse view (*smaller arrow*). Fig. 4.5 *Tetramyxa parasitica* on *Ruppia maritima*. TEM of transitional sporogenic plasmodium with profiles of synaptonemal complexes in the nuclei and one centriole shown at a pole. Centriole (*arrow*), chromatin (Ch), nucleolus/ i (Nu), persistent membrane (M), synaptonemal complex (SC), and transmission electron micrograph (TEM)



Fig. 4.6 *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. TEM of resting spores in root cell of Chinese cabbage

an outgrowth (adhesorium) from the main body of the encysted zoospore (Keskin and Fuchs 1969; Aist and Williams 1971; Claxton et al. 1996). Encystment of the zoospore with the formation of Stachel and Rohr takes approximately 2 h, formation of the adhesorium approximately 1 min, and the injection of zoospore contents through the host cell wall and plasma membrane into the host cytoplasm approximately 1 s (Aist and Williams 1971; Williams 1973).

Once within the host cell, the contents of the zoospore begin to grow by cruciform divisions (Fig. 4.1). The boundary between the plasmodium and host cytoplasm may be either a single, unit membrane for some members of the group (Braselton and Miller 1975) or a boundary thicker than a single membrane consisting of several layers for others (Williams and McNabola 1970).

What determines the path of development a plasmodium at this stage will take is not understood. For some phytomyxids, e.g., members of the genera *Polymyxa* Ledingham and *Ligniera* Maire & Tison, sporangial and sporogenic plasmodia may occur within adjacent cells of the same host tissue (Miller 1959). For others, such as *P. brassicae* and *S. subterranea*, sporangial plasmodia generally occur in root epidermal cells, particularly root hairs, whereas sporogenic plasmodia occur in cortical cells. For *Sorosphaera veronicae* Schröter,¹ sporogenic development is confined to shoots, whereas sporangial development occurs only in the roots (Miller 1958).

Conditions of the host growth medium may influence the development of the phytomyxid. For example, when *Woronina pythii* Goldie-Smith infects a *Pythium* sp. that has been growing in medium for less than a few days, the *W. pythii* will follow sporangial development. If, however, the host has been growing in medium for several days, and the medium is "stale," the *W. pythii* will follow sporogenic development (Miller and Dylewski 1983).

When a plasmodium, whether sporangial or sporogenic, reaches a stage of maturity where growth ceases, cruciform divisions no longer occur, and the nuclei become difficult to see in paraffin-sectioned specimens. The nuclei in part are difficult to recognize because the nucleoli either are reduced in size to below the resolution of optical microscopy or have disappeared altogether. Terms for this stage used by earlier microscopists included akaryotic stage, enucleate stage, chromidial stage, and transitional stage. Because nuclei are now known to be present during this stage of development (Fig. 4.5), transitional stage is the most appropriate term because this stage marks a change in the development of the plasmodium from a period of growth to a period of differentiation. Nuclei in this stage may be referred to as transitional nuclei.

¹ Sorosphaera has been used throughout this review because historically Sorosphaera was the name used in the literature for the genus. Neuhauser and Kirchmair (2011) noted, however, that since both Phytomyxea and Foraminifera are now recognized as members of the supergroup Rhizaria (Archibald and Keeling 2004; Bass et al. 2009; Burki et al. 2010), based on the International Code of Zoological Nomenclature (ICZN), a homonomy exists between the plasmodiophorid Sorosphaera J. Schröter and the foraminiferan Sorosphaera Brady. To resolve the homonomy, Neuhauser and Kirchmair (2011) proposed that Sorosphaerula nom. n. replace Sorosphaera J. Schröter for this genus.



Fig. 4.7 *Polymyxa betae*. TEM of resting spores in a sporosorus in root cell of sugar beet

Up to the transitional stage, there are no obvious morphological distinctions between sporogenic or sporangial plasmodia (Miller 1959); the only time it is possible to determine definitively what type of plasmodium is present is in those situations where the two types of development occur in different host tissues as in *P. brassicae* and *S. subterranea*. Miller and Dylewski (1983) noted, however, that sporogenic plasmodia of *W. pythii* contained more lipoidal globules than sporangial plasmodia at the time cleavage is initiated. Nuclear divisions that occur in either sporogenic or sporangial transitional plasmodia are not of the cruciform type and, therefore, are referred to as *noncruci*-



Fig. 4.8 Summary diagram of generalized life cycle for members of Plasmodiophorida

form divisions. Although noncruciform divisions in both sporangial and sporogenic plasmodia appear similar at the level of optical microscopy, their prophases and, consequently, the type of division, may be distinguished by ultrastructural criteria.

A. Sporogenic (Secondary) Plasmodia

Transmission electron microscopy of transitional nuclei in plasmodia known to be of the sporogenic type revealed **synaptonemal complexes** (Fig. 4.5), indicators of prophase I of meiosis (Garber and Aist 1979a; Braselton 1995). The noncruciform divisions that occur either immediately preceding or during cleavage of the protoplasm leading to the formation of incipient resting spores are therefore interpreted as being meiotic, as had been suspected by others (Cook 1933; Webb 1935; Heim 1955). Cleavage of cytoplasm into uninucleate cells leads to the formation of resting spores as cell walls are deposited.

B. Sporangial (Primary) Plasmodia

Synaptonemal complexes have not been observed in the transitional nuclei of sporangial plasmodia (Dylewski and Miller 1984), and the noncruciform divisions that occur during or immediately preceding cleavage of a plasmodium into sporangial lobes are therefore not interpreted as being meiotic. Cleavage of sporangial plasmodia results in the formation of lobes with relatively thin walls, each lobe containing four or more secondary zoospores; the walls of the lobes may partially disintegrate, leaving passages between the lobes (Ledingham 1935, 1939; Miller 1958; Clay and Walsh 1990). One or more of the lobes may develop a discharge papilla, through which zoospores pass freely from one lobe to another and eventually discharge into the surrounding environment (D'Ambra and Mutto 1977; Miller and Dylewski 1983; Clay and Walsh 1990). Some investigators refer to the collection of lobes as a sporangium (zoosporangium) because the collection presumably developed from one plasmodium or there are continuities between lobes once walls between them disintegrate [see Miller (1958) for a review of this terminology; Barr 1979]. Others use the term sporangiosorus for the collection of lobes, considering each lobe as a sporangium (Buczacki and Clay 1984).

C. Relationship of Life Cycle Phases

The relationship of the two life cycle phases is not completely understood. Dobson and Gabrielson (1983) reported that sporangial development is needed prior to sporogenic development in *P. brassicae*; sporogenic development is interpreted as being initiated by secondary zoospores produced from sporangia. Other observations for *S. subterranea* and *P. brassicae* respectively by Kole and Gielink (1963) and Mithen and Magrath (1992) have indicated that primary zoospores may give rise directly to sporogenic (secondary) infections and to sporangial infections. Secondary zoospores likewise may produce sporangial (primary) infections or, under some conditions, initiate sporogenic (secondary) infections (Kole and Gielink 1963; Mithen and Magrath 1992).

D. Karyogamy

The major unresolved aspect of phytomyxid life cycles is the location of karyogamy. Karling (1968) summarized the knowledge of sexuality in the group as "...largely indirect and presumptive," and the statement continues to be the best summary of our understanding of sexuality for Phytomyxea. After suggesting earlier that karyogamy possibly occurred in fused zoospores, Kole (1954) reviewed observations of fusion of zoospores of S. subterranea and noted that karyogamy could not be documented in fused zoospores. The idea that secondary zoospores fuse prior to initiating primary (sporogenic) infections in P. brassicae was presented by Ingram and Tommerup (1972) and Dobson and Gabrielson (1983). Tommerup and Ingram (1971) and Buczacki and Moxham (1980) suggested that karyogamy may occur later in sporogenic plasmodia immediately preceding meiotic divisions.

III. Classification

A. Phylogeny

Although many mycologists and plant pathologists have treated Phytomyxea as fungi (Sparrow 1960; Waterhouse 1972), others have grouped them with the protozoa (Barr 1992). Beginning with the sequencing of the *P. brassicae* ribosomal 18S gene (Castlebury and Domier 1998), DNA sequence phylogenies placed phytomyxids with a wide assemblage of protists in the Cercozoa (Cavalier-Smith and Chao 1997, 2003). Further evidence of a close relationship between phytomyxids and cercozoans came with confirmation that they shared a unique one- or two-amino-acid insertion between ubiquitin monomers (Archibald and Keeling 2004). These insertions have been found in Cercozoa and Foraminifera but not in all other eukaryotes studied to date, including radiolarians (Archibald et al. 2003; Bass et al. 2005). Subsequently, Cercozoa was incorporated into a supergroup of diverse protists, the Rhizaria, which has been almost entirely circumscribed through molecular evidence (Bass et al. 2005; Moreira et al. 2007; Nikolaev et al. 2004) and which has an evolutionary closeness to two chromalveolate groups, stramenopiles and alveolates (Burki et al. 2007, 2008; Hackett et al. 2007; Rodriguez-Ezpeleta et al. 2007).

Although Phytomyxea is well settled in the Rhizaria, the position of the phytomyxids with respect to other rhizarians is not established. Ribosomal 18S sequences show the parasitic Phytomyxea and Ascetosporea, along with reticulose protists, solidly grouped in the subphylum Endomyxa (Bass et al. 2005, 2009; Cavalier-Smith 2003). The first phylogenomic study to include large numbers of phytomyxid gene sequences placed Phytomyxea with Gromia Dujardin and a clade of Acantherea and Foraminifera separate from the core Cercozoa (Burki et al. 2010). Increased density of 18S sequences from cultivated protists and anonymous sequences from environmental sources indicate that the terrestrial/freshwater Vampyrellidae in the Proteomyxidea are the closest known relatives of Phytomyxea (Bass et al. 2009). If confirmed, this will show that parasitism has arisen twice, independently of freeliving ancestors in the Phytomyxea and Ascetosporea (Bass et al. 2009).

B. Genera and Species

Genera and species are based on morphological criteria; the biological species concept is not applicable for this group because sexuality has not been observed. Ten genera are recognized in the order Plasmodiophorida (Braselton 1995; Dylewski 1989; Karling 1968): *Ligniera; Membranosorus* Ostenfeld & Petersen; *Octomyxa* Couch, Leitner & Whiffen; *Plasmodiophora; Polymyxa; Sorodiscus* Lagerheim & Winge; *Sorosphaera; Spongospora* Brunchorst; *Tetramyxa* Goebel, and *Woronina*. Two genera are currently recognized in the Phagomyxida: *Maullinia* (Maier et al. 2000) and *Phagomyxa* (Schnepf 1994; Schnepf et al. 2000). Karling (1968) listed 35 recognized species in his consideration of Plasmodiophorales.

The genera of plasmodiophorids are based on the morphologies of sporosori as seen through compound optical microscopy. For several genera, sporosoral morphologies are incorporated into their generic names, such as Tetramyxa (four resting spores per sporosorus), Octomyxa (eight resting spores per sporosorus), Membranosorus (sporosorus consisting of resting spores primarily in a single layer), Sorodiscus (resting spores arranged in a disk-shaped sporosorus), Sorosphaera (resting spores arranged in a sphere), and Spongospora (resting spores arranged in a spongy-looking sporosorus). Although Palm and Burk (1933), and subsequently some reviewers of the group (e.g., Olive 1975), questioned the reliability of using sporosoral morphology, it has continued to be the main criterion for delimiting genera of plasmodiophorids. Species within genera are generally based on what hosts are infected by the given organism, with specific epithets reflecting the host name. Examples include pythii, callitrichis, betae, graminis, subterranea, nasturtii, brassicae, heterantherae, and veronicae.

At this time we are on the verge of a better understanding of Phytomyxea speciation based on molecular phylogenetics. While confirming the expected close relationship between the *Polymyxa* spp. and *S. veronicae*, comparisons of ribosomal DNA sequences have shown that there is considerable phylogenetic distance between *S. subterranea* and *S. nasturtii* (Bulman et al. 2001), which supported the renaming of these two members of the genus from their previously recognized formae speciales (Dick 2001).

Misidentification of some genera and species or incomplete studies have led to confusion as to whether all of the currently recognized genera are valid. Palm and Burk (1933) concluded that the presently recognized genera *Ligniera*, *Membranosorus*, and *Sorodiscus* should be considered as synonyms of *Sorosphaera*. It should be emphasized that their conclusion was based on observations of one plant of *Veronica* sp. infected with *S. veronicae*. Analyses of chromosomal numbers through serial sections of synaptonemal complexes showed that ultrastructural karyotypes of the recognized genera differ, supporting the retention of the ten recognized genera of Plasmodiophorida as valid taxa (Braselton 1995).

A paper that has led to confusion about two genera was by Wernham (1935) in which *Membranosorus heterantherae* Ostenfeld & Petersen (Ostenfeld and Petersen 1930) was renamed *Sorodiscus heterantherae*. Wernham's misidentification created some doubt as to the validity of the genus *Membranosorus* (Karling 1968; Olive 1975), which apparently has led to its exclusion from other systematic reviews (Cavalier-Smith 1993). Ultrastructural and karyotypic studies (Braselton 1983, 1989b) supported the view that *Membranosorus* is a valid genus.

C. Molecular Applications

Molecular investigations of Phytomyxea lag behind those for other microbial groups of comparable economic significance. P. brassicae has been the most extensively studied phytomyxid; the progression of molecular studies in this organism was summarized by Siemens et al. (2009). A consistent driver of molecular studies for phytomyxids has been the need for rapid and accurate detection of the important plant pathogens and viral vectors. This need has led to progress toward rDNA-targeted, quantitative-PCR assays for P. brassicae [reviewed in Faggian and Strelkov (2009)], S. subterranea (Lees et al. 2008; van de Graaf et al. 2003), and Polymyxa spp. (Vaïanopoulos et al. 2007; Ward et al. 2005).

From the earliest studies (Buhariwalla and Mithen 1995; Buhariwalla et al. 1995; Ito et al. 1994; Möller and Harling 1996), molecular techniques have been used for detecting genetic diversity within species. Molecular techniques for differentiating the highly variable *P. brassicae* accessions remain at an exploratory phase (e.g., Manzanares-Dauleux et al. 2001), but examinations of ribosomal sequences have been successful in delimiting new variations in the genus *Polymyxa* (Legrève et al. 2002).

Large-scale genomic studies have not been completed for any phytomyxid. This is in part because of the need to sort plant from phytomyxid sequences (Burki et al. 2010). There has been progress, however, in revealing the structure of several genes from P. brassicae (Siemens et al. 2009) and constructing a pilot-scale DNA library for S. subterranea (Bulman et al. 2011). Brodmann et al. (2002) attributed an increase in trehalose in roots and hypocotyls of Arabidopsis thaliana (L.) Heynh. infected with P. brassicae to the expression of a putative trehalose synthase gene from P. brassicae. An in-depth characterization of a phytomyxid gene was completed for a putatively secreted proteolytic enzyme from P. brassicae (Feng et al. 2010). Given the plummeting cost of generating new DNA sequences, complete phytomyxid genomes are undoubtedly accessible, although correct assembly plus a full and detailed annotation of such genomic data will be more time consuming.

IV. Occurrence, Distribution, Maintenance, and Culture

Depending primarily on their respective hosts, members of the Phytomyxea occur in a variety of habitats, including terrestrial, marine, and freshwater. Hosts range from vascular plants to algae and water molds.

The commonly recognized plant pathogens *P. brassicae* and *S. subterranea* and viral vectors *P. graminis* and *P. betae* are observed on a yearly basis on crops in various parts of the world and may be obtained from crop plants grown in infected soils (Colhoun 1957).

Most investigations for maintaining Phytomyxea in the laboratory or in glasshouse conditions concern *P. brassicae* and *S. subterranea*. Clubbed roots can be stored at -20 °C and used for inoculum of *P. brassicae* for several years. *Plasmodiophora brassicae* is maintained on various *Brassica* L. (Brassicaceae) species grown in soil in the greenhouse or growth chambers by inoculating seedlings with purified resting spores or slices of infected roots (Castlebury and Glawe 1993). Root galls are visible 3–7 weeks after inoculation. Castlebury et al. (1994) described how to purify resting spores from root galls, and several reports detailed methods for initiating infections from single resting spores (Buczacki 1977; Jones et al. 1982; Scott 1985; Tinggal and Webster 1981; Voorrips 1996). Both phases of the life cycle of *P. brassicae* may be expressed on *Brassica* seedlings grown in defined, liquid, nutrient media (Crute et al. 1981; Macfarlane 1958; Williams et al. 1971). Methods for maintaining *S. subterranea* in the greenhouse on potatoes and tomatoes follow protocols similar to those used for *P. brassicae* (Kole 1954).

Polymyxa graminis may be grown on wheat in sand inoculated with infected soil samples (Barr 1987) and *P. betae* by growing sugar beet under similar conditions with sand inoculated with soils from sugar-beet-growing regions (Barr and Asher 1992). Neither *Polymyxa* species causes hypertrophy of host tissues, so localization of portions of roots that are infected must be made with optical microscopy. Both sporangial and sporogenic stages are observable in young, intact roots viewed with brightfield optical microscopy.

Collection of infected hosts from nature is the method of choice for obtaining representatives of *Ligniera*, *Membranosorus*, several species of *Plasmodiophora* other than *P. brassicae*, *Sorodiscus*, *Sorosphaera*, and *Tetramyxa*. With the exception of *Ligniera*, these parasites cause galls, which are easily identified with the unaided eye on host shoots or roots, depending on the particular host and parasite.

heterantherae Membranosorus occurs throughout the range of the host, *Heteranthera* dubia (Jacq.) MacMill. (Pontederiaceae), in freshwater lakes and rivers in the continental USA and southern Canada (Forest et al. 1986). Sorosphaera veronicae has been observed to cause shoot galls on various species of winter annuals in the genus *Veronica* (Plantaginaceae) in Athens, Ohio, USA (Harris et al. 1980); Chapel Hill, North Carolina, USA (Braselton and Miller 1973; Miller 1958); Sevenoaks, UK (Blomfield and Schwartz 1910); and near La Veta, Colorado, USA (Palm and Burk 1933). Tetramyxa parasitica Goebel is found on species of Zannichellia (Potamogetonaceae) and Ruppia (Ruppiaceae) in shallow, brackish water in Finland, Denmark, Sweden, Norway, UK, Germany, France, Italy, the USA (Luther 1949), and the Netherlands (den Hartog 1963).

What was reported to be *T. parasitica* on *Halophila stipulacea* Asch. (Hydrocharitaceae) (Marziano et al. 1995) seems to be a species of *Plasmodiophora*. Two species of *Plasmodiophora* that deserve further study are widely distributed on their respective seagrass hosts, *P. diplantherae* on *Halodule* species (Cymodoceaceae) (den Hartog 1965; Walker and Campbell 2009) and *P. bicaudata* on species of *Zostera* (Zosteraceae) (den Hartog 1989). *Sorodiscus callitrichis* may be found on *Callitriche* (Plantaginaceae) species throughout Sweden in freshwater streams and ponds (Martinsson 1987).

Since species of Ligniera do not cause hypertrophy of host tissues, compound optical microscopy must be used to locate the various species by examining young, intact roots of hosts that have been collected from their native habitats. Ligniera spp. located in this manner include L. junci (Schwartz) Maire & Tison in roots of Juncus triglumis L. (Juncaceae) from englacial streams in Austria (Neuhauser and Kirchmair 2009); L. verrucosa Maire & Tison in roots of Veronica spp. collected from lawns on university campuses in Athens, Ohio, USA (Braselton 1989a; Miller et al. 1985) and Chapel Hill, North Carolina, USA (Miller 1959); and L. pilorum Fron & Gaillat in roots of various grasses in Ontario, Canada (Barr 1979).

Members of the genus *Woronina* are found worldwide and infect a variety of taxa of water molds and algae. *Woronina* may be located by "baiting" soil samples with hemp seeds in Emerson's (P/3) water for its hosts, primarily species of *Pythium* (Dylewski 1987; Miller and Dylewski 1983). Infected regions of hosts are enlarged and are detectable with brightfield, phase contrast, or differential interference contrast microscopy.

Location of phagomyxids has so far been largely a byproduct of research into their host species. Capture of *Phagomyxa bellerocheae* Schnepf and *P. odontellae* Kühn, Schnepf & Bulman requires close observation and expertise with phytoplankton from the Wadden Sea (Schnepf 1994; Schnepf et al. 2000). *Maullinia ectocarpii* I. Maier, E. R. Parodi, R. Westermeier et D. G. Müller has been identified as a parasite of economically important brown algae in Chile (Maier et al. 2000). The size of infections and the culturability of its host (*Ectocarpus siliculosus* [Dillwyn] Lyngbye) mean that this phagomyxid represents the best chance for ongoing studies of these organisms.

No phytomyxid has been shown to complete a life cycle in culture free of host cells. There have been, however, successes in growing *P. brassicae* and *S. subterranea* in tissue culture with their respective plant hosts. These studies have used two approaches. First, *P. brassicae* and *S. subterranea* have been propagated successfully in hairy root cultures established by *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* (Asano et al. 2006; Qu and Christ 2007). Secondly, both *P.brassicae* and *S. subterranea* have been propagated for significant periods in plant callus cultures (Asano and Kageyama 2006; Bulman et al. 2011; Ingram 1969; Tommerup and Ingram 1971; Williams et al. 1969).

V. Conclusions and Future Prospects

Phytomyxea comprises a discrete taxonomic group that contains several members of economic importance. Despite the extensive applied literature on the control of the plant pathogens *P. brassicae* and *S. subterranea* and the viral vectors *P. graminis* and *P. betae*, several unresolved questions about the life cycles of members of the group remain. These include:

- Where in the life cycle does karyogamy occur?
- What determines when a resting spore germinates?
- How does a zoospore recognize a host cell?
- What determines whether a plasmodium will follow sporogenic or sporangial development?

It seems inevitable that Phytomyxea species are more abundant and widespread than is currently known (Neuhauser et al. 2011). Searches of potential hosts in other locations would be rewarding, and studies of environmental DNA samples may provide a new window into the group by determining the presence of undescribed species of Phytomyxea in terrestrial and aquatic environments. Further studies could include comprehensive Basic Local Alignment Search Tool searches of anonymous ribosomal RNA sequences in public databases for the presence of sequences of likely phytomyxean origin (Lesaulnier et al. 2008), multiple PCR-primer approaches (Stoeck et al. 2006), and the use of PCR primers biased toward the detection of phytomyxids (Neuhauser et al. 2011).

References

- Adl SM, Simpson AGB, Farmer MA, Andersen RA, Anderson OR, Barta JR, Bowser SS, Brugerolle G, Fensome RA, Fredericq S, James TY, Karpov S, Kugrens P, Krug J, Lane CE, Lewis LA, Lodge J, Lynn DH, Mann DG, McCourt RM, Mendoza L, Moestrup Ø, Mozley-Standridge SE, Nerad TA, Shearer CA, Smirnov AV, Spiegel FW, Taylor MFJR (2005) The new higher level classification of eukaryotes with emphasis on the taxonomy of protists. J Eukaryot Microbiol 52:399–451
- Aist JR, Williams PH (1971) The cytology and kinetics of cabbage root hair penetration by *Plasmodiophora brassicae* Wor. Can J Bot 49:2023–2034
- Archibald JM, Keeling PJ (2004) Actin and ubiquitin protein sequences support a cercozoan/foraminiferan ancestry for the plasmodiophorid plant pathogens. J Eukaryot Microbiol 51:113–118
- Archibald JM, Longet D, Pawlowski J, Keeling PJ (2003) A novel polyubiquitin structure in cercozoa and foraminifera: evidence for a new eukaryotic supergroup. Mol Biol Evol 20:62–66
- Asano T, Kageyama K (2006) Growth and movement of secondary plasmodia of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* in turnip suspension-culture cells. Plant Pathol 55:145–151
- Asano T, Kodama A, Kageyama K (2006) Susceptibility of hairy root lines of *Brassica* species to *Plasmodiophora brassicae* and in an *in vitro* subculture system. J Gen Plant Pathol 72:85–91
- Barr DJS (1979) Morphology and host range of *Polymyxa graminis*, *Polymyxa betae*, and *Ligniera pilorum* from Ontario and some other areas. Can J Plant Pathol 1:85–94
- Barr DJS (1987) Some obligate parasites in roots. In: Fuller MS, Jaworski A (eds) Zoosporic fungi in teaching and research. Southeastern Publishing Corporation, Athens, GA, pp 130–131
- Barr DJS (1992) Evolution and kingdoms of organisms from the perspective of a mycologist. Mycologia 84:1-11
- Barr KJ, Asher MJC (1992) The host range of *Polymyxa* betae in Britain. Plant Pathol 41:64–68
- Bass D, Moreira D, Lopez-Garcia P, Polet S, Chao EE, Herden S, Pawlowski J, Cavalier-Smith T (2005)

Polyubiquitin insertions and the phylogeny of Cercozoa and Rhizaria. Protist 156:149–161

- Bass D, Chao EE, Nikolaev S, Yabuki A, Ishida K, Berney C, Pakzad U, Wylezich C, Cavalier-Smith T (2009) Phylogeny of novel naked filose and reticulose Cercozoa: Granofilosea cl. n. and Proteomyxidea revised. Protist 160:75-109
- Blomfield JE, Schwartz EJ (1910) Some observations on the tumours on *Veronica chamaedrys* caused by *Sorosphaera veronicae*. Ann Bot 24:35–43
- Braselton JP (1983) The plasmodiophoromycete parasitic on *Heteranthera dubia*. Can J Bot 61:45–52
- Braselton JP (1989a) Karyotypic analysis of Ligniera verrucosa (Plasmodiophoromycetes). Can J Bot 67:1216–1218
- Braselton JP (1989b) Karyotypic analysis of *Membra*nosorus heterantherae (Plasmodiophoromycetes). Can J Bot 67:1219–1220
- Braselton JP (1995) Current status of the plasmodiophorids. Crit Rev Microbiol 21:263–275
- Braselton JP, Miller CE (1973) Centrioles in Sorosphaera. Mycologia 65:220-226
- Braselton JP, Miller CE (1975) Host-parasite interface of Veronica persica and Sorosphaera veronicae (Plasmodiophoromycetes). Arch Microbiol 104:97-99
- Braselton JP, Miller CE, Pechak DG (1975) The ultrastructure of cruciform nuclear division in Sorosphaera veronicae (plasmodiophoromycete). Am J Bot 62:349–358
- Brodmann D, Schuller A, Ludwig-Müller J, Aeschbacher RA, Wiemken A, Boller T, Wingler A (2002) Induction of trehalase in *Arabidopsis* plants infected with the trehalose-producing pathogen *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 15:693–700
- Buczacki ST (1977) Root infections from single resting spores of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Trans Br Mycol Soc 69:328–329
- Buczacki ST, Clay CM (1984) Some observations on secondary zoospore development in *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Trans Br Mycol Soc 82:339–342
- Buczacki ST, Moxham SE (1980) Karyogamy in *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Trans Br Mycol Soc 75:439-444
- Buczacki ST, Moxham SE (1983) Structure of the resting spore wall of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* revealed by electron microscopy and chemical digestion. Trans Br Mycol Soc 81:221–231
- Buhariwalla H, Mithen R (1995) Cloning of a *Brassica* repetitive DNA element from resting spores of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Physiol Mol Plant Pathol 47:95-101
- Buhariwalla H, Greaves S, Magrath R, Mithen R (1995) Development of specific PCR primers for the amplification of polymorphic DNA from the obligate root pathogen *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Physiol Mol Plant Pathol 47:83–94

- Bulman SR, Kühn SF, Marshall JW, Schnepf E (2001) A phylogenetic analysis of the SSU rRNA from members of the Plasmodiophorida and Phagomyxida. Protist 152:43–51
- Bulman S, Candy JM, Fiers M, Lister R, Conner AJ, Eady CC (2011) Genomics of biotrophic, plant-infecting plasmodiophorids using *in vitro* dual cultures. Protist 162:449–461
- Burki F, Shalchian-Tabrizi K, Minge MA, Skjaeveland A, Nikolaev SI, Jakobsen KS, Pawlowski J (2007) Phylogenomics reshuffles the eukaryotic supergroups. PLoS One 2:e790
- Burki F, Shalchian-Tabrizi K, Pawlowski J (2008) Phylogenomics reveals a new 'megagroup' including most photosynthetic eukaryotes. Biol Lett 4:366– 369
- Burki F, Kudryavtsev A, Matz MV, Aglyamova GV, Bulman S, Fiers M, Keeling PJ, Pawlowski J (2010) Evolution of Rhizaria: new insights from phylogenomic analysis of uncultivated protists. BMC Evol Biol 10:377–394
- Castlebury LA, Domier LL (1998) Small subunit ribosomal RNA phylogeny of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Mycologia 90:102–107
- Castlebury LA, Glawe DA (1993) A comparison of three techniques for inoculating Chinese cabbage with *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Mycologia 85:866–867
- Castlebury LA, Maddox JV, Glawe DA (1994) A technique for the extraction and purification of viable *Plasmodiophora brassicae* resting spores from host tissue. Mycologia 86:458–460
- Cavalier-Smith T (1993) The protozoan phylum Opalozoa. J Eukaryot Microbiol 40:609–615
- Cavalier-Smith T (2003) Protist phylogeny and the high-level classification of Protozoa. Eur J Protistol 39:338-348
- Cavalier-Smith T, Chao EE (1997) Sarcomonad ribosomal RNA sequences, rhizopod phylogeny, and the origin of euglyphid amoebae. Arch Protistenkd 147:227–236
- Cavalier-Smith T, Chao EE (2003) Phylogeny and classification of Phylum Cercozoa (Protozoa). Protist 154:341–358
- Claxton JR, Potter UJ, Blakesley D, Clarkson JM (1996) An ultrastructural study of the interaction between Spongospora subterranea f. sp. nasturtii and watercress roots. Mycol Res 100:1431–1439
- Clay CM, Walsh JA (1990) Ultrastructure of sporangial development in *Spongospora subterranea* f. sp. *nasturtii* infecting watercress. Mycol Res 94:463– 471
- Colhoun J (1957) A technique for examining soil for the presence of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* Woron. Ann Appl Biol 45:559–565
- Cook WRI (1933) A monograph of the plasmodiophorales. Arch Protistenkd 80:179–254
- Cook WRI, Schwartz EJ (1930) The life-history, cytology, and method of infection of *Plasmodiophora*

brassicae Woron., the cause of finger and toe disease of cabbage and other crucifers. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 218:283–314

- Cooper JI, Asher MJC (eds) (1988) Viruses with fungal vectors. Association of Applied Biologists, Wellesbourne, Warwick
- Crute IR, Buczacki ST, Stevenson K (1981) A solution culture method for observing the development of clubroot symptoms on young brassica plants. Ann Appl Biol 99:241–245
- D'Ambra V, Mutto S (1977) The ultrastructure of *Polymyxa beta* zoospore exit-tube differentiation. Can J Bot 55:831–839
- den Hartog C (1963) *Tetramyxa parasitica*, een gal op *Ruppia*. Gorteria 1:138–140
- den Hartog C (1965) Some notes on the distribution of *Plasmodiophora diplantherae*, a parasitic fungus on species of *Halodule*. Persoonia 4:15–18
- den Hartog C (1989) Distribution of *Plasmodiophora bicaudata*, a parasitic fungus on small *Zostera* species. Dis Aquat Org 6:227-229
- Dick MW (2001) Straminipilous Fungi. Systematics of the peronosporomycetes including accounts of the marine straminipilous protists, the plasmodiophorids and similar organisms. Kluwer, Dordrecht
- Dixon GR (2009) The occurrence and economic impact of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* and clubroot disease. J Plant Growth Regul 28:194–202
- Dobson RL, Gabrielson RL (1983) Role of primary and secondary zoospores of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* in the development of clubroot in Chinese cabbage. Phytopathology 73:559–561
- Dylewski DP (1987) *Woronina pythii*. In: Fuller MS, Jaworski A (eds) Zoosporic fungi in teaching and research. Southeastern Publishing Corporation, Athens, GA, pp 108–109
- Dylewski DP (1989) Phylum Plasmodiophoromycota. In: Margulis L, Corliss JO, Melkonian M, Chapman DJ (eds) Handbook of protoctista. Jones and Bartlett, Boston, pp 399–416
- Dylewski DP, Miller CE (1983) Cruciform nuclear division in *Woronina pythii* (Plasmodiophoromycetes). Am J Bot 70:1325–1339
- Dylewski DP, Miller CE (1984) The ultrastructure of mitosis during sporangiogenesis in *Woronina pythii* (Plasmodiophoromycetes). Protoplasma 121:42–53
- Dylewski DP, Braselton JP, Miller CE (1978) Cruciform nuclear division in *Sorosphaera veronicae*. Am J Bot 65:258–267
- Faggian R, Strelkov SE (2009) Detection and measurement of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. J Plant Growth Regul 28:282–288
- Feng J, Hwang R, Hwang S-F, Strelkov SE, Gossen BD, Zhou Q-X, Peng G (2010) Molecular characterization of a serine protease Pro1 from *Plasmodiophora brassicae* that stimulates resting spore germination. Mol Plant Pathol 11:503–512

- Forest HS, Horn CN, Marcus BA (1986) New observations of galls on Zosterella dubia (Jacq.) Small (*Heteranthera dubia* (Jacq.) MacM.) infected by *Membranosorus heterantherae* Ostenfeld and Peterson [sic]. Environ Exp Bot 26:377-384
- Garber RC, Aist JR (1979a) The ultrastructure of meiosis in *Plasmodiophora brassicae* (Plasmodiophorales). Can J Bot 57:2509–2518
- Garber RC, Aist JR (1979b) The ultrastructure of mitosis in *Plasmodiophora brassicae* (Plasmodiophorales). J Cell Sci 40:89–110
- Hackett JD, Yoon HS, Li S, Reyes-Prieto A, Rümmele SE, Bhattacharya D (2007) Phylogenomic analysis supports the monophyly of cryptophytes and haptophytes and the association of rhizaria with chromalveolates. Mol Biol Evol 24:1702–1713
- Harris SE, Braselton JP, Miller CE (1980) Chromosomal number of *Sorosphaera veronicae* (Plasmodiophoromycetes) based on ultrastructural analysis of synaptonemal complexes. Mycologia 72:916-925
- Heim P (1955) Le noyau dans le cycle évolutif de *Plasmodiophora brassicae* Woron. Revue de Mycologie 20:131–157
- Ingram DS (1969) Growth of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* in host callus. J Gen Microbiol 55:9–18
- Ingram DS, Tommerup I (1972) The life history of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* Woron. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 180:103–112
- Ito S-I, Yano S, Tanaka S, Kameya-Iwaki M (1994) The use of resting spore spheroplasts in the DNA analysis of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Ann Phytopathol Soc Jpn 60:491–495
- Jones DR, Ingram DS, Dixon GR (1982) Characterization of isolates derived from single resting spores of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* and studies of their interaction. Plant Pathol 31:239–246
- Kanyuka K, Ward E, Adams MJ (2003) *Polymyxa graminis* and the cereal viruses it transmits: a research challenge. Mol Plant Pathol 4:393–406
- Karling JS (1968) The Plasmodiophorales, 2nd edn. Hafner, New York
- Karling JS (1981) Woronina leptolegniae n. sp., a plasmodiophorid parasite of Leptolegnia. Nova Hedwigia 35:17-24
- Keskin B (1971) Beitrag zur Protomitose bei *Polymyxa* betae Keskin. Arch Mikrobiol 77:344–348
- Keskin B, Fuchs WH (1969) Der Infectionsvorgang bei Polymyxa betae. Arch Mikrobiol 68:218–226
- Kole AP (1954) A contribution to the knowledge of Spongospora subterranea (Wallr.) Lagerh., the cause of powdery scab of potatoes. Tijdschrift over plantenziekten 60:1-65
- Kole AP, Gielink AJ (1961) Electron microscope observations on the flagella of the zoosporangial zoospores of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* and *Spongospora subterranea*. Proc Acad Sci Amsterdam Ser C 64:157-161

- Kole AP, Gielink AJ (1962) Electron microscope observations on the resting-spore germination of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Proc Acad Sci Amsterdam Ser C 65:117–121
- Kole AP, Gielink AJ (1963) The significance of the zoosporangial stage in the life cycle of the Plasmodiophorales. Neth J Plant Pathol 69:258–262
- Lahert H, Kavanagh JA (1985) The fine structure of the cystosorus of *Spongospora subterranea*, the cause of powdery scab of potato. Can J Bot 63:2278–2282
- Ledingham GA (1934) Zoospore ciliation in the Plasmodiophorales. Nature 133:534
- Ledingham GA (1935) Occurrence of zoosporangia in Spongospora subterranea (Wallroth) Lagerheim. Nature 135:395
- Ledingham GA (1939) Studies on *Polymyxa graminis*, n. gen. n. sp., a plasmodiophoraceous root parasite of wheat. Can J Res C 17:40–51
- Lees A, Graaf P, Wale S (2008) The identification and detection of *Spongospora subterranea* and factors affecting infection and disease. Am J Potato Res 85:247–252
- Legrève A, Delfosse P, Maraite H (2002) Phylogenetic analysis of *Polymyxa* species based on nuclear 5.8S and internal transcribed spacers ribosomal DNA sequences. Mycol Res 106:138–147
- Lesaulnier C, Papamichail D, McCorkle S, Ollivier B, Skiena S, Taghavi S, Zak D, van der Lelie D (2008) Elevated atmospheric CO₂ affects soil microbial diversity associated with trembling aspen. Environ Microbiol 10:926–941
- Luther H (1949) Beobachtungen über *Tetramyxa parasitica* Goebel. Mem Soc Fauna Flora Fenn 25:88–96
- Macfarlane I (1952) Factors affecting the survival of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* Wor. in the soil and its assessment by a host test. Ann Appl Biol 39:239-256
- Macfarlane I (1958) A solution culture technique for obtaining root-hair, or primary infection by *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. J Gen Microbiol 18:720–732
- Macfarlane I (1970) Germination of resting spores of *Plasmodiophora brassicae.* Trans Br Mycol Soc 55:97-112
- Maier I, Parodi E, Westermeier R, Müller DG (2000) Maullinia ectocarpii gen. et sp. nov. (Plasmodiophorea), an intracellular parasite in Ectocarpus siliculosus (Ectocarpales, Phaeophyceae) and other filamentous brown algae. Protist 151:225-238
- Maire R, Tison A (1909) La cytologie des Plasmodiophoracées et la classe des Phytomyxinae. Ann Mycol 7:226-253
- Manzanares-Dauleux MJ, Divaret I, Baron F, Thomas G (2001) Assessment of biological and molecular variability between and within field isolates of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Plant Pathol 50:165–173
- Martinsson K (1987) Gallbildningar på *Callitriche*. Svensk Bot Tidskr 81:334–336

- Marziano F, Villari R, Tripodi G (1995) A plasmodiophorid fungal parasite of the seagrass *Halophila stipulacea*. Mycotaxon 60:165–170
- McGrann GRD, Grimmer MK, Mutasa-Göttens ES, Stevens M (2009) Progress towards the understanding and control of sugar beet rhizomania disease. Mol Plant Pathol 10:129–141
- Merz U (1997) Microscopical observations of the primary zoospores of *Spongospora subterranea* f.sp. *subterranea*. Plant Pathol 46:670–674
- Merz U (2008) Powdery scab of potato—occurrence, life cycle and epidemiology. Am J Potato Res 85:241-246
- Merz U, Falloon RE (2009) Review: powdery scab of potato—increased knowledge of pathogen biology and disease epidemiology for effective disease management. Potato Res 52:17–37
- Miller CE (1958) Morphology and cytology of the zoosporangia and cystosori of *Sorosphaera veronicae*. J Elisha Mitchell Sci Soc 74:49–64
- Miller CE (1959) Studies on the life cycle and taxonomy of *Ligniera verrucosa*. Am J Bot 46:725–729
- Miller CE, Dylewski DP (1983) Zoosporic pathogens of lower plants—what can be learned from the likes of *Woronina*? In: Buczacki ST (ed) Zoosporic plant pathogens. Academic, London, pp 249–283
- Miller CE, Martin RW, Dylewski DP (1985) The ultrastructure of plasmodia, sporangia, and cystosori of *Ligniera verrucosa* (Plasmodiophoromycetes). Can J Bot 63:263-273
- Mithen R, Magrath R (1992) A contribution to the life history of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*:secondary plasmodia development in root galls of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Mycol Res 96:877–885
- Möller M, Harling R (1996) Randomly amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) profiling of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Lett Appl Microbiol 22:70–75
- Moreira D, von der Heyden S, Bass D, López-García P, Chao E, Cavalier-Smith T (2007) Global eukaryote phylogeny: combined small- and large-subunit ribosomal DNA trees support monophyly of Rhizaria, Retaria and Excavata. Mol Phylogenet Evol 44:255–266
- Moxham SE, Buczacki ST (1983) Chemical composition of the resting sore wall of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Trans Br Mycol Soc 80:297–304
- Neuhauser S, Kirchmair M (2009) *Ligniera junci*, a plasmodiophorid re-discovered in roots of *Juncus* in Austria. Österr Z Pilzk 18:151–157
- Neuhauser S, Kirchmair M (2011) *Sorosphaerula* nom. n. for the plasmodiophorid genus *Sorosphaera* J. Schröter 1886 (Rhizaria: Endomyxa: Phytomyxea: Plasmodiophorida). J Eukaryot Microbiol 58:469–470
- Neuhauser S, Bulman S, Kirchmair M (2010) Plasmodiophorids: the challenge to understand soilborne, obligate biotrophs with a multiphasic life cycle. In: Gherbawy Y, Voight K (eds) Molecular identification of fungi. Springer, Berlin, pp 51–78

- Neuhauser S, Kirchmair M, Gleason FH (2011) The ecological potentials of Phytomyxea ("plasmodiophorids") in aquatic food webs. Hydrobiologia 659:23-35
- Nikolaev SI, Berney C, Fahrni J, Bolivar I, Polet S, Mylnikov AP, Aleshin VV, Petrov NB, Pawlowski J (2004) The twilight of Heliozoa and rise of Rhizaria: an emerging supergroup of amoeboid eukaryotes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:8066–8071
- Olive LS (1975) The mycetozoans. Academic, New York
- Ostenfeld CH, Petersen HE (1930) On a new Plasmodiophoracea found in Canada. Z Bot 23:13-18
- Palm BT, Burk M (1933) The taxonomy of the Plasmodiophoraceae. Arch Protistenkd 79:263–276
- Qu XS, Christ BJ (2007) *In vitro* culture of the obligate parasite *Spongospora subterranea* (Cercozoa, Plasmodiophorida) associated with root-inducing transferred-DNA transformed potato hairy roots. J Eukaryot Microbiol 54:465–467
- Rochon D, Kakani K, Robbins M, Reade R (2004) Molecular aspects of plant virus transmission by *Olpidium* and plasmodiophorid vectors. Annu Rev Phytopathol 42:211–241
- Rodriguez-Ezpeleta N, Brinkmann H, Burger G, Roger AJ, Gray MW, Philippe H, Lang BF (2007) Toward resolving the eukaryotic tree: the phylogenetic positions of jakobids and cercozoans. Curr Biol 17:1420–1425
- Schnepf E (1994) A Phagomyxa-like endoparasite of the centric marine diatom Bellerochea malleus: a phagotrophic Plasmodiophoromycete. Bot Acta 107:374–382
- Schnepf E, Kühn SF, Bulman S (2000) Phagomyxa bellerocheae sp. nov. and Phagomyxa odontellae sp. nov., Plasmodiophoromycetes feeding on marine diatoms. Helgol Mar Res 54:237–241
- Scott ES (1985) Production and characterization of single-spore isolates of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Plant Pathol 34:287–292
- Siemens J, Bulman S, Rehn F, Sundelin T (2009) Molecular biology of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. J Plant Growth Regul 28:245–251
- Sparrow FK (1960) Aquatic phycomycetes, 2nd edn. University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor, MI
- Stoeck T, Hayward B, Taylor GT, Varela R, Epstein SS (2006) A multiple PCR-primer approach to access the microeukaryotic diversity in environmental samples. Protist 157:31–43
- Tinggal SH, Webster J (1981) Technique for single spore infection by *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Trans Br Mycol Soc 76:187–190
- Tomlinson JA (1958) Crook root of watercress. III: the causal organism Spongospora subterranea (Wallr.)

Lagerh. f. sp. nasturtii f. sp. nov. Trans Br Mycol Soc 41:491–498

- Tommerup IC, Ingram DS (1971) The life-cycle of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* Woron. in *Brassica* tissue cultures and intact roots. New Phytol 70:327-332
- Vaïanopoulos C, Bragard C, Moreau V, Maraite H, Legreve A (2007) Identification and quantification of *Polymyxa graminis* f. sp. *temperata* and *P. graminis* f. sp. *tepida* on barley and wheat. Plant Dis 91:857-864
- van de Graaf P, Lees AK, Cullen DW, Duncan JM (2003) Detection and quantification of *Spongospora subterranea* in soil, water and plant tissue samples using real-time PCR. Eur J Plant Pathol 109:589-597
- Voorrips RE (1996) Production, characterization and interaction of single-spore isolates of *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Eur J Plant Pathol 102:377–383
- Walker AC, Campbell J (2009) First records of the seagrass parasite *Plasmodiophora diplantherae* from the northcentral Gulf of Mexico. Gulf Caribb Res 21:63–65
- Ward E, Kanyuka K, Motteram J, Kornyukhin D, Adams MJ (2005) The use of conventional and quantitative real-time PCR assays for *Polymyxa* graminis to examine host plant resistance, inoculum levels and intraspecific variation. New Phytol 165:875–885
- Waterhouse G (1972) Plasmodiophoromycetes. In: Ainsworth GC, Sparrow FK, Sussman AS (eds) The Fungi, vol 4B. Academic, New York, pp 75–82
- Webb PCR (1935) The cytology and life-history of Sorosphaera veronicae. Ann Bot 49:41–52
- Wernham CC (1935) A species of Sorodiscus on Heteranthera. Mycologia 27:262–273
- Williams PH (1973) Penetration and infection of cabbage roots by *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Shokubutsu Byogai Kenkyu (Forsch Gebiet Pflanzenkrankh) Kyoto 8:133-146
- Williams PH, McNabola SS (1970) Fine structure of the host-parasite interface of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* in cabbage. Phytopathology 60:1557–1561
- Williams PH, Reddy MN, Strandberg JO (1969) Growth of noninfected and *Plasmodiophora brassicae* infected cabbage callus in culture. Can J Bot 47:1217-1221
- Williams PH, Aist SJ, Aist JR (1971) Response of cabbage root hairs to infection by *Plasmodiophora brassicae*. Can J Bot 49:41-47
- Yukawa Y, Tanaka S (1979) Scanning electron microscope observations on resting sporangia of *Plasmodiophora brassicae* in clubroot tissues after alcohol cracking. Can J Bot 57:2528–2532